#### No. 75228-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



JOHN DOE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

Court of Appeals Case No. 75228-6-I Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for King County

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

John Doe, Appellant, pro se Pacific, WA 98047 WashingtonVoices@gmail.com

###

2.	Issue of First Impression
	3.	Standard of Review Under the Due Process Clause9
	4.	Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 7 Implication 11
	5.	Twenty-four Hour Notification Language Unconstitutionally Vague?
	6.	Regulates Out-of-State Behavior
	7.	Court of Appeals Interpretation of Steffel v. Thompson 16
F.	CON	CLUSION 20

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **Table of Cases**

# **Federal Cases:**

Aptheker v. Sec'y of State, 378 U.S. 500, 505 (1964)
Doe v. Cooper Case No 16-6026, U.S. Court of Appeals, 4th Circuit November 30, 2016
Does v. Snyder, U.S. Court of Appeal, Sixth Circuit Nos. 15-1536/2346/2486
Duarte v. City of Lewisville, Texas, No. 15-41456 (5th Cir. 2017)
Grady v. North Carolina, U.S, 135 S.Ct. 1368, 191 L.Ed.2d 459, 83 U.S.L.W. 4226, 25 Fla.L. Weekly Fed. S 181 (U.S. 03/30/2015)
Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 580 (2003)
Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife 504 U.S. 555 (1992)
Doe v. Miami-Dade County, 15-14336 (11th Cir. 01/25/2017)
Packingham v. North Carolina U.S. Supreme Court No. 15–1194. Decided June 19, 20174, 5
Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 600, 632
St. Joseph Abbey v. Castille, 712 F.3d 215, 223 (5th Cir. 2013)
Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 459 (1974)

United States v. Windsor, 133 S. Ct. 2675, 2692 (2013)
Washington State Cases
In re Personal Restraint Petition of Meyer, 142 Wash.2d 608, 16 P.3d 563 (Wash. 01/04/2001)
State of Washington v. Gerald Duaine Enquist, 256 P.3d 1277, 163 Wash.App. 41 (Wash.App.Div.2 08/05/2011)
Washington v. Taylor, 67 Wash. App. 350, 835 P.2d 245 (Wa.App. 08/31/1992)7
Washington v. Ward, 123 Wash. 2d 488, 869 P.2d 1062 (Wa. 03/17/1994)2, 5, 7, 8,9, 11
Other State Cases
Doe v. State, Supreme Court Case 2013-496, New Hampshire6
John Doe v. DPS and Correct Services, Case No. 125 - 2013, Maryland6
Starky v. Oklahoma DPS, SD- 109556, 2013, Oklahoma5, 6
State v. John Doe A and John Doe B, S-14486 – 2013, Alaska
State v. Hough, No. 64A05-1203-MI-113, 2012, Indiana
Constitutional Provisions
<u>Federal</u>
Fifth Amendment
Fourth Amendment

# **State**

Article I, Section 7	
Washingto	on Statute
RCW 9A.44.130	Passim
PCW 9 68 4 090	

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is John Doe, a registered sex offender in King County. Doe is representing himself, pro se, under a Superior Court approved pseudonym.

#### **B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

John Doe v. State of Washington, No. 75228-6-I (May 22, 2017) (App. A), affirming the King County Superior Court's order granting the State of Washington's motion to dismiss. (App. B.) On May 24, 2017, Doe motioned the Court of Appeals to publish its decision in this case (App. C), however the Court denied the motion to publish. (App. D.)

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Washington State legislature passed Senate Bill 5154-2015, which the Governor signed into law on May 14, 2015. The bill amended RCW 9A.44.130(3), imposing for the first time a requirement that all registered sexual offenders (hereafter Registrant) in Washington State to provide three-weeks notification prior to traveling outside the Country. In the alternative, the statute allows a Registrant to travel outside the country without three-week's notice for "emergencies" or "routine" business travel, provided the Registrant appears in person to local law enforcement at least 24-hours before traveling, to provide written notification as to why it was "impracticable" to provide more notice.

The issues before the Court are as follows:

- 1. Is the travel notification requirement outline in RCW 9A.44.130(3) a first impression issue, heretofore not addressed by this Court? Secondarily, is the travel notification requirement beyond the scope of this Court's ruling in <u>Ward</u><sup>1</sup>, which has not been addressed in any prior ruling by this Court?
- 2. Does RCW 9A.44.130(3) impose an unconstitutional retroactive restraint to international travel by requiring a three-week waiting period prior to leaving the county?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals use the correct level of review in this case, due to the right to travel internationally being protected by the Fifth Amendment?
- 4. Does the travel notification requirement constitute a search under the Fourth Amendment of the Unites States Constitution, and Article 1, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution?
- 5. Is the alternative notification provision, allowing for reduced waiting period for "travel due to family or work emergencies, or for offenders who travel routinely across international borders for work-related purposes" unconstitutionally vague?
- 6. Can the State of Washington regulate behavior of a registrant who is temporarily out of the State complying with registration requirements in another jurisdiction?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Ward, 123 Wn.2d 488, 496. 889 P.2d 1062 (1994)

7. Is the Court of Appeals' interpretation of <u>Steffel v. Thompson</u> in conflict with how the issue of standing is interpreted by the Federal Courts?

Secondarily, did the court improperly dismiss the case for lack of standing because Doe had yet to travel outside the country?

#### D. STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner Doe pled guilty to two counts in violation of RCW 9.68A.090(1), gross misdemeanors, on June 17, 2011, was sentenced and required to register as a sexual offender under RCW 9A.44.130. Doe spent four months in the King County jail, two years' probation, and paid his court costs. The Superior Court released Doe from its jurisdiction on August 14, 2013, after completing his sentence and paying off fines and court costs. Upon release from confinement, Doe registered with the King County Sheriff's office and has maintained his registration in good standing as required by law.

Upon passage of Senate Bill 5154-2015 and signing by the Governor,

Doe filed a challenge to the new travel notification and waiting requirements in

Superior Court, prior to the law taking affect. [CP page 1]<sup>2</sup> Doe also filed for a

preliminary injunction to prevent the law from going into effect, however the

court denied the motion. [CP@ 130] Doe took his preliminary injunction

request to this Court seeking discretionary review, however the Court

Commissioner denied Doe's motion for preliminary relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Reference to Clerk's Papers designated as [CP @ x], where x refers to the Clerk's Papers page number.

On a motion for summary judgement [CP @ 142] the Superior Court dismissed Doe's challenge, before he could bring his case to trial. [CP @ 261-262] Doe timely challenged the trial court's dismissal to the Court of Appeals, Division One, which affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal. [App. A] Subsequently, Doe motioned the Court of Appeals to publish its opinion in this case, which was denied. [App. D] Doe now makes a timely petition for review by this Court.

#### E. ARGUMENT

#### 1. Courts are Invalidating Amendments to Registration Laws

This Court should take note that appellate and federal courts across the country are frequently invaliding new restrictive amendments to state registration laws, the latest being the recent U.S. Supreme Court ruling in <a href="Packingham v. North Carolina">Packingham v. North Carolina</a> (No. 15-1194, June 19, 2017). In an 8-0 ruling the Court invalidated a Registrant's restriction to accessing social web sites on the internet. The majority opinion stated the law was too broad, not narrowly tailored, and failed to meet scrutiny:

Even assuming that the statute is content neutral and thus subject to intermediate scrutiny, the provision is not ""narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest."" <u>McCullen v. Coakley</u>, 573 U. S. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_. .... It is also clear that "sexual abuse of a child is a most serious crime and an act repugnant to the moral instincts of a decent people," <u>Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition</u>, 535 U. S. 234, 244, and that a legislature "may pass valid laws to protect children" and other sexual assault victims, id., at 245. However, the assertion of a valid governmental interest "cannot, in every context, be insulated from all constitutional protections." Stanley v. Georgia, 394 U. S. 557, 563.

Packingham v. North Carolina, Id.

The ruling in <u>Packingham</u> is not an outlier decision, but in a line with many opinions where courts have recently begun to restrain state legislatures on what burdens they can retroactively impose on Registrants.

Another recent and significant ruling is the Sixth Circuits opinion in <u>Does</u>

<u>v. Snyder</u><sup>3</sup>, where the circuit court ruled that retroactive application of

Michigan's amendments to its sex offender registration scheme violated the ex

post facto clause of the Constitution. Though the court did not rule on the

general application of these amendments going forward, its opinion casts doubt

on unconstitutionality of the provisions in question.

"So, is SORA's actual effect punitive? Many states confronting similar laws have said "yes." See, e.g., Doe v. State, 111 A.3d 1077, 1100 (N.H. 2015); State v. Letalien, 985 A.2d 4, 26 (Me. 2009); Starkey v. Oklahoma Dep't of Corr., 305 P.3d 1004 (Okla. 2013); Commonwealth v. Baker, 295 S.W.3d 437 (Ky. 2009); Doe v. State, 189 P.3d 999, 1017 (Alaska 2008). And we agree. In reaching this conclusion, we are mindful that, as Smith makes clear, states are free to pass retroactive sex-offender registry laws and that those challenging an ostensibly non-punitive civil law must show by the "clearest proof" that the statute in fact inflicts punishment. But difficult is not the same as impossible. Nor should Smith be understood as writing a blank check to states to do whatever they please in this arena."

Doe urges this Court to take notice of high courts' in Alaska<sup>4</sup>, Indiana<sup>5</sup>, Maryland<sup>6</sup>, New Hampshire<sup>7</sup> and Oklahoma<sup>8</sup>, which have all ruled that some

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Court of Appeal, Sixth Circuit, Nos. 15-1536/2346/2486.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. John Doe A and John Doe B, # S-14486 – 2013, Alaska.

aspects of their State's sex offender registration statutes are sufficiently punitive that they may not be applied retroactively.

Federal District Judge Obert Cleland, United States District Court, E.D. Michigan, Southern Division, ruled parts of Michigan's Sex Offender Registry law was so vague that it was unconstitutional<sup>9</sup>, including the requirement that offenders stay at least 1,000 feet from schools. Judge Cleland, in a 72-page ruling, struck down several reporting requirements of the 1994 law, which has been amended several times by state lawmakers to make sex offender registration requirements stricter.

Lastly, in a <u>Doe v. Miami-Dade County<sup>10</sup></u>, a case regarding residency restrictions, the federal court ruled the plaintiffs had a right to challenge the ex post facto application of the County's residency restrictions:

"On appeal, the Plaintiffs argue that they pleaded sufficient facts to state a claim that the residency restriction is so punitive in effect as to violate the ex post facto clauses of the federal and Florida Constitutions. At this stage, we conclude that Doe #1 and Doe #3 have alleged plausible ex post facto challenges to the residency restriction. Therefore, we affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand for proceedings consistent with this opinion.."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Hough, No. 64A05-1203-MI-113, 2012, Indiana.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> John Doe v. DPS and Correctional Services, Case No. 125 - 2013, Maryland.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>Doe v. State</u>, Supreme Court Case 2013-496, New Hampshire.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Starky v. Oklahoma DPS, SD- 109556, 2013, Oklahoma.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> <u>Does v. Snyder</u>, Case No. 12-11194, March 31, 2015, US District Court, E.D. Michigan, Southern Division.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>Doe v. Miami-Dade County</u>, 15-14336 (11th Cir. 01/25/2017)

These are just a few examples of how state and federal courts are finally saying "no" to imposing further ex post facto regulatory restrictions on sex offenders. See Does briefing to the Superior Court for additional case law. [CP @ 35-55]

#### 2. <u>Issue of First Impression</u>

The requirement on registrants to provide notice and wait three-weeks prior to traveling outside the county is an issue of first impression for any Washington State court. Prior to this case, all appellate decisions, from <u>Ward</u>, <sup>11</sup> <u>Taylor</u>, <sup>12</sup> <u>Meyer</u>, <sup>13</sup> <u>Enquist</u>, <sup>14</sup> and others, have all ruled that Washington State sex offender requirements imposed no prior restraint to any activity, and therefore was purely regulatory. It was precisely because there was no affirmative restraint to travel is why the statute was deemed regulatory.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals, for the first time in this state, ruled it was constitutional for the state to impose a retroactive prior restraint on an activity by a Registrant. In this case, the activity being restrained is traveling abroad, by requiring a three-week waiting period. Though unpublished, this ruling is significant and addresses an issue heretofore not ruled upon by this or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Washington v. Ward, 123 Wash. 2d 488, 869 P.2d 1062 (Wa. 03/17/1994)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Washington v. Taylor, 67 Wash. App. 350, 835 P.2d 245 (Wa.App. 08/31/1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In re Personal Restraint Petition of Meyer, 142 Wash.2d 608, 16 P.3d 563 (Wash. 01/04/2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> State of Washington v. Gerald Duaine Enquist, 256 P.3d 1277, 163 Wash.App. 41

any Washington State appellate court. Unpublished opinions may not be cited, however the reasoning the Court of Appeals used in this case will permeate to the lower courts in performing analysis of similar cases. It also provides tacit approval that any requirement imposed on a registrant is constitutional because registration is regulatory by nature.

This Court in <u>Ward</u> ruled that the simple act of registration was not punitive:

"Registration alone imposes no significant additional burdens on offenders. The statute requires an offender to provide the local sheriff with eight pieces of information: name, address, date and place of birth, place of employment, crime for which convicted, date and place of conviction, aliases used, and Social Security number. In addition, the local sheriff must obtain two items: the offender's photograph and fingerprints. We note that at least one criminal justice agency routinely has all of this information on file at the time of an offender's conviction and sentencing. See RCW 10.97.030(1), (3). Thus, only if this information has changed since sentencing could registration require an offender to divulge information which is not already in the hands of the authorities

We also find that the physical act of registration creates no affirmative disability or restraint. Collecting information about sex offenders in order to aid community law enforcement." Washington v. Ward, 123 Wash. 2d 488, 869 P.2d 1062 (Wa. 03/17/1994)

The Court of Appeals opinion stated: "Doe fails to meaningfully distinguish from Enquist and Ward by explaining how the requirement to

provide notice of international travel is more punitive than the sex offender registry generally in Ward, or the transient offender requirements in Enquist' Doe argued precisely that the amendment goes further than requirements of Ward, finally making the registration scheme punitive, for the right to travel abroad is protected by the Fifth Amendment.<sup>15</sup>

#### 3. Standard of Review Under the Due Process Clause

The Court of Appeals dismissed all claims by ruling that the statute on its face was constitutional, stating Doe's "... primary argument is that a rational basis review of his claim is inappropriate and that we must apply intermediate scrutiny, under which he argues that he would prevail. But because we conclude that Doe's facial and as applied claims do not meet the threshold requirements for review, we do not reach issues regarding the applicable level of scrutiny." The Court seems to say that just because the generic sex offender scenario can meet the law's requirement means the law is constitutional, therefore the Court need not apply any level of scrutiny to the prohibitions. The Court is also saying that until Doe travels outside the country he does not have standing to challenge the statute.

The right to international travel is a liberty interest protected by the Fifth Amendment<sup>17</sup>. Doe alleges that the International Notification and Waiting Period provision of the statute violates the substantive due process guarantee of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Aptheker v. Sec'y of State, 378 U.S. 500, 505 (1964)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Doe v. State, 75228-6-I (Wash.App.Div.1 05/22/2017, Footnote 3

the right to travel internationally because it is not rationally related to a legitimate government interest.

In the context of a constitutional adjudication of fundamental rights, such as the right to travel internationally, rational basis review is not an automatic rubber-stamp of Congressional or State acts. See, e.g., Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 600, 632 ("[E]ven in the ordinary equal protection case calling for the most deferential standards, we insist on knowing the classification adopted and the object to be obtained."); St. Joseph Abbey v. Castille, 712 F.3d 215, 223 (5th Cir. 2013) ("[A]lthough rational basis review places no affirmative evidentiary burden on the government, plaintiffs may nonetheless negate a seemingly plausible basis for the law by adducing evidence of irrationality." (citing FCC v. Beach Commc'ns, Inc., 508 U.S. 307, 314-15 (1993)) (emphasis added)). In support of Doe's argument of irrationality, Doe intended to introduce evidence from witness testimony and other professional and government published documents, information that would have shown there is no nexus between the foreign travel by a Registrant and committing sex offenses, or with the intent of committing any offense at all.

The U. S. Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit have "applied a more searching form of rational basis review" when a law displays animus or disregard toward a particular group of disadvantaged or politically unpopular people in connection with that group's exercise of a fundamental right.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Aptheker v. Sec'y of State, 378 U.S. 500, 505 (1964)

Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 580 (2003) (O'Connor, J., concurring). See also United States v. Windsor, 133 S. Ct. 2675, 2692 (2013) (citing cases).

The Sixth Circuit in <u>Does v. Snyder</u> made the same claim, and took a close look at the statute precisely because of how hated Registrants are by the public:

"We conclude that Michigan's SORA imposes punishment. And while many (certainly not all) sex offenses involve abominable, almost unspeakable, conduct that deserves severe legal penalties, punishment may never be retroactively imposed or increased. Indeed, the fact that sex offenders are so widely feared and disdained by the general public implicates the core counter-majoritarian principle embodied in the Ex Post Facto clause." <u>Does v. Snyder</u>, Id.

The question for this Court is, does the new travel notification provision violate a Registrant's Fifth Amendment right to travel.

### 4. Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 7 Implication

The travel notification requirement mandates a Registrant provide law enforcement with detail travel information to include the following:

"The notice shall include the following information: (a) Name; (b) passport number and country; (c) destination; (d) itinerary details including departure and return dates; (e) means of travel; and (f) purpose of travel. If the offender subsequently cancels or postpones travel outside the United States, the offender must notify the county sheriff not later than three days after cancellation or postponement of the intended travel outside the United States or on the departure date provided in the notification, whichever is earlier." RCW 9A.44.130(3)

An itinerary can include very granular detail of where and exactly at

what time travel occurs. This information is not much different than if the State attached a GPS unit to a Registrant, something the U.S. Supreme Court ruled implicates the Fourth Amendment.

In a per curium decision, the U.S. Supreme over turned the North Carolina Supreme Court ruling upholding a law which attaches GPS units to Registrants, where the state court ruled it was constitutional for it was regulatory. In *Grady v. North Carolina*<sup>18</sup>, the high court made clear that the Fourth Amendment protections extend into the civil regulatory arena. The case was returned to North Carolina to review the case under the Fourth Amendment protection.

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