FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/22/2017 12:24 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94770-8

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul M. Crisalli Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 40681 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

###

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Doe's failure to cite any rule under RAP 13.4 is reason enough to deny review. See RAP 13.4. His petition further shows no reason to grant review. Well-settled case law shows that the statute is facially constitutional and that Doe's as-applied challenge is not ripe for review. Doe has not travelled or attempted to travel abroad under the statute, so the facts necessary for review are undeveloped. The facial challenge fails because the statute applies the non-punitive, regulatory requirements that the courts have routinely upheld. This Court should deny review.

### A. Doe's as-Applied Challenge Is Not Ripe

This Court's decisions show that Doe's as-applied challenge is not ripe. A pre-enforcement challenge is ripe only "if the issues raised are primarily legal, do not require further factual development, and the challenged action is final." *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 751, 193 P.3d 678 (2008); *see also State v. Cates*, 183 Wn.2d 531, 534-36, 354 P.3d 832 (2015) (challenge to community custody condition that an officer could search defendant's home for a computer not ripe where officers had yet to search the home). The court also must consider the hardship to the petitioner of withholding court consideration. *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d at 751.

Here, there is no way to analyze any hardship because Doe has not yet given notice under the statute, or attempted to travel internationally with or without giving notice. Without knowing these facts, a court has to speculate to analyze the constitutional challenges. Doe can still travel abroad, so he suffers no hardship on the facts available. The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's case law in holding that Doe's asapplied challenge is not ripe. This Court should deny review.

Doe misplaces his reliance on *Steffel v. Thompson*, 415 U.S. 452, 94 S. Ct. 1209, 39 L. Ed. 2d 505 (1974), and *Duarte ex rel. Duarte v. City of Lewisville*, 759 F.3d 514 (5th Cir. 2014). *See* Pet. at 16-20. In *Steffel*, the state threatened prosecuting protestors for their hand billing outside a shopping center, which then deterred the protestors' exercise of constitutionally protected speech. 415 U.S. at 455-56, 459. The Court held that the case was ripe because the threats of prosecution were not imaginary or speculative. *Id.* at 459. Similarly in *Duarte*, the state Sex Offender Registrar sent the Duartes correspondence warning against purchasing or renting specific properties, so the threat was not imaginary or speculative. 759 F.3d at 520.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Doe claims that he considered going to Mexico while visiting family in Arizona, but chose not to because he could not provide notice to the sheriff. Pet. at 19-20. That Doe might have thought about traveling makes any threat of prosecution imaginary and speculative.

But here, Doe has not attempted to travel in or out of compliance with RCW 9A.44.130(3), and no state authority has threatened Doe with prosecution for violating the statute. Unlike in *Steffel* and *Duarte*, there is no imminent threat of state prosecution here. This Court should deny review.

### B. Doe Cannot Meet the Longstanding Test That the Statute is Unconstitutional in All Instances

A facial challenge occurs when a party seeks to invalidate an entire statute, as opposed to preventing specific manners of application. *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668-69, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). A facial challenge must be rejected when "no set of circumstances exists in which the statute, as currently written, can be constitutionally applied." *Id.* at 669; *see Lummi Indian Nation v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 258, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010); *Tunstall ex rel. Tunstall v. Bergeson*, 141 Wn.2d 201, 221, 5 P.3d 691 (2000). Holding a statute facially unconstitutional is an extreme remedy. *See Moore*, 151 Wn.2d at 668-69. These challenges are contrary to the fundamental principle of judicial restraint that "courts should neither anticipate a question of constitutional law in advance of the necessity of deciding it nor formulate a rule of constitutional law broader than is required by the precise facts." *Wash. State Grange v. Wash. State* 

Republican Party, 552 U.S. 442, 450, 128 S. Ct. 1184, 170 L. Ed. 2d 151 (2008) (quotations omitted).

Here, the Court of Appeals recognized that Doe has not attempted to travel abroad, so it considered the following hypothetical for Doe's facial challenge:

A registered sex offender wishes to travel abroad in several months. He mails written notice of his travels to the county sheriff by certified mail more than twenty-one days before his departure. The sheriff receives the notice, which lists his name, passport number and country, destination, itinerary details including departure and return dates, and means and purpose of travel. This information is forwarded to the U.S. Marshall, who provides it to Interpol, which sends it to the destination country. The offender travels as planned.

Slip op. at 5. As discussed below in Part IV.D, this hypothetical is a circumstance in which the statute could be constitutionally applied, so Doe's facial challenge fails. This Court should deny review.

# C. This Court's Well-Settled Case Law Holds That Washington's Offender Registry Is Regulatory in Nature, and No Foreign Case Cited by Doe Contradicts That Holding

Existing law shows Doe's challenges regarding ex post facto provisions are meritless and do not require review. Federal courts uphold ex post facto applications of regulatory offender registries when they are regulatory in nature. This Court held that Washington's registry is regulatory and not an ex post facto violation. *Ward*, 123 Wn.2d at 496. But the cases cited by Doe involve as-applied challenges to schemes far

different from Washington's, under circumstances where the Court has found the restrictions to the sex offenders punitive and draconian. In contrast, this case involves a facial challenge to a registration system that this Court has already held is not punitive. Doe's arguments lack merit and show why this Court should deny review.

Contrary to Doe's assertion that this case presents an issue of first impression on ex post facto jurisprudence, this case simply applies the well-settled case law announced by the U.S. Supreme Court, and this Court in *Ward* and its progeny. Pet. at 7-9. Applying this line of cases shows that review is not warranted, and even if this were an issue of first impression, that is not a reason identified in RAP 13.4 to grant review.

The U.S. Supreme Court has set forth a framework for federal analyses of applying the ex post facto clause to sex offender registry laws. *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S. Ct. 1140, 155 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2003). In upholding a retroactive application of Alaska's registry requirements, the Court examined whether the legislature intended to impose punishment or whether the intent was to create a regulatory scheme that is civil and nonpunitive. 538 U.S. at 92, 105-06. The Court held that it is regulatory to publicly disseminate information about a person's conviction for the purpose of public safety and the requirements did not impose punitive restraints, so there was no ex post facto violation. *Id.* at 101-02.

Looking to Washington law, in *Ward*, this Court held that there was no ex post facto violation when the Legislature applied the sex offender registry law to individuals already convicted and sentenced before its enactment. 123 Wn.2d at 496. In *Enquist*, the Court of Appeals applied *Ward* to hold that the parts of RCW 9A.44.130 requiring a transient offender to register are not an ex post facto violation. 163 Wn. App. at 45-49. The court explained that while registering and providing notice might be an inconvenience, it was not punitive. *Id.* at 49.

Doe cannot meaningfully distinguish the well-settled decisions in *Smith*, *Ward*, and *Enquist* from this case because he cannot show that the international travel notice requirement is punitive and not regulatory, particularly considering the other parts of the registry statutes that the courts have repeatedly held to be regulatory. The Court of Appeals pointed this out in rejecting his argument. Slip op. at 8-9.

Even in his petition, Doe never explains how requiring notice before travelling abroad places more of a burden on offenders than what they already must do. Pet. at 8-9. Doe merely asserts that the notification requirement is too strict, but he cannot show that the notification requirement is punitive when courts in *Ward* and *Enquist* have held that registering and providing updated information when he moves are not

punitive. And he gives this Court no reason to revisit those cases. This is not enough to warrant review.

Doe cites a litany of other state and federal court cases in an attempt to show that there is a national trend to protect sex offenders from the effects of registering. Pet. at 4-7. The argument ignores the well-settled Washington case law upholding Washington's registry scheme. Not only are all the cases as-applied challenges, but these cases involve laws that stop an offender's activity rather than require notice, which is at issue here. See, e.g., Packingham v. North Carolina, U.S. , 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1737, 198 L. Ed. 2d 273 (2017); Does #1-5 v. Snyder, 834 F.3d 696, 705-06 (6th Cir. 2016); Doe v. Miami-Dade Cty., Florida, 846 F.3d 1180, 1183 (11th Cir. 2017). The cases analyze punitive schemes different from Washington's regulatory scheme. A critical distinguishing factor in the primary cases he relies upon, Packingham, Synder, and Miami-Dade, is that these cases are a bar to an offender accessing locations. *Id.* In contrast, here the statute does not prevent access to anything and requires notification of the offender's whereabouts only.

In *Packingham v. North Carolina*, for example, the Supreme Court struck down a statute preventing sex offenders from accessing commonplace social media websites as violating the First Amendment.

137 S. Ct. 1730. Analyzing whether a statute violates the First

Amendment requires a different analysis than analyzing whether a statute's application would violate the ex post facto clause. By protecting access to social media, the Court protected the fundamental First Amendment-protected ability to have access to places where a person could speak and listen, and to access forums that allow a person to speak and listen. *Id.* at 1735, 1737. No such barring of access to forums to speak is involved here; Washington law does not bar Doe from going anywhere—he just must provide notice. And because the Supreme Court never analyzed whether that statute violated the ex post facto clause, which is what Doe alleges here, this case provides no guidance here.

Washington's offender registry is also vastly different from the Michigan scheme that the Sixth Circuit held was too punitive in *Snyder*. *Contra* Pet. at 5. Michigan's sex offender registry laws restrict where offenders can live, work, or loiter; and it requires the offenders to provide information on their vehicles and internet identifiers (like email accounts). *Snyder*, 834 F.3d at 698. Washington's scheme does not have these punitive requirements. *See* RCW 9A.44.130. Requiring an offender to provide notice before international travel is significantly less restrictive than limiting where an offender can live, work, or loiter. *Enquist* recognized that it does not violate the ex post facto clause nor the right to travel to require a transient offender to report their whereabouts weekly.

163 Wn. App. 41. Notifying when international travel will occur is simply another way of reporting the offender's whereabouts and does not prevent the sex offender from going anywhere like the Michigan law did. Further, *Snyder* is distinguishable because the system was not about providing notice before traveling—it analyzed a strict scheme that limited an offender's ability to live, work, and loiter. 834 F.3d at 698.

The Eleventh Circuit also analyzed a strict offender registry scheme that limited offenders' ability to live in certain locations in *Miami-Dade*. 846 F.3d 1180; Pet. at 6-7. There, offenders challenged an ordinance that prohibited sex offenders from living within 2,500 feet from schools as violating the ex post facto prohibition. *Miami-Dade*, 846 F.3d at 1182-83. The Eleventh Circuit held that the plaintiffs established a sufficiently plausible claim to survive a civil rule 12 motion to dismiss because the offenders alleged the restriction is so punitive in effect as to violate the ex post facto clause. *Id.* at 1186. But here, the statute does not restrict where Doe can live, and it does not even restrict his ability to travel. *See* RCW 9A.44.130(3). It merely requires that he provide notice, not stop him from living somewhere. *Miami-Dade* is distinguishable because rather than analyze a travel notification requirement, it analyzes a registry scheme that differs from Washington's, where offenders are

restricted in where they can live, and it is based on an as-applied challenged with ripe facts. 846 F.3d 1180.

Doe also hastily relies on several other decisions that are asapplied challenges to punitive schemes that do more than just require registration. Pet. at 5-6. These cases are as-applied challenges on ex post facto grounds that are punitive and not regulatory. See State v. Doe, 297 P.3d 885 (Alaska 2013) (upholding an earlier decision that statute extending registering duration violates ex post facto clause); State v. Hough, 978 N.E.2d 505 (Ind. Ct. App. 2012) (rejecting argument that offender had to register in Indiana because he would have had to register in Pennsylvania, where the underlying crime took place); Doe v. Dep't of Pub. Safety & Corr. Servs., 430 Md. 535, 562, 62 A.3d 123 (2013) (holding Maryland's offender registry is so punitive as to constitute ex post facto violation because the laws "have the same practical effect as placing Petitioner on probation or parole"); Doe v. State, 167 N.H. 382, 393-94, 111 A.3d 1077 (2015) (amendments, including restrictions on internet usage and publishing photographs of offender, to New Hampshire's offender registry laws violated ex post facto clause because they were punitive); Starkey v. Okla. Dep't of Corr., 305 P.3d 1004 (Okla. 2013) (amendments to registration periods violated ex post facto clause). None of these cases addresses this Court's well-settled analysis in Ward

and its progeny. As no case cited by Doe addresses the circumstances presented here, they do not show that review is warranted.

### D. Doe's Other Arguments Fail, so Review Is Unwarranted

Doe makes other arguments attempting to justify review. But all his arguments lack merit and show why review should not be granted.

1. Doe failed to meet the threshold requirements for review, so the Court of Appeals did not need to analyze the applicable scrutiny

Doe misses the mark in arguing that the Court of Appeals did not analyze the level of scrutiny on his claim that the statute violates his right to travel. Pet. at 9-11. RCW 9A.44.130(3) does not deter Doe's ability to travel. Consistent with the Court of Appeals' hypothetical, he can still travel internationally, and nothing in the statute precludes him from doing so. Slip op. at 6. Doe's right to travel is not implicated since he can travel.

Because the right to travel is not implicated, Doe failed to make the threshold showing that the statute is unconstitutional in all circumstances. *See Moore*, 151 Wn.2d at 669. The Court of Appeals did not need to go to the next step of analyzing the level of scrutiny. Doe provides no reason to grant review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>There is no fundamental right to international travel and the scrutiny is not strict scrutiny. If it is necessary to go that next step, the statute is rationally related to an important governmental interest in the safety of the community. The right to foreign travel can be constitutionally limited. *Katare v. Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 41, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (citing *Califano v. Aznavorian*, 439 U.S. 170, 176, 99 S. Ct. 471, 58 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1978)). Contrary to Doe's assertions otherwise, sex offenders are not a part of a

### 2. The statute does not create an impermissible search under article I, section 7

This Court has already rejected Doe's argument that RCW 9A.44.130(3) creates an unconstitutional search. *See* Pet. at 11-12. This Court has explained that the sex offender registry does not violate offenders' right to privacy. *Meyer*, 142 Wn.2d at 619-21. Offenders already have a diminished expectation of privacy, including providing information during registering. *See id.*; *Ward*, 123 Wn.2d at 502; RCW 9A.44.130. In *Meyer*, the Court upheld statutes requiring offenders to provide information about their residence, place of employment, date of birth, aliases, and criminal history. 142 Wn.2d at 612-13, 619-22. Doe does not explain how travel information such as an itinerary and passport number is subject to a greater right of privacy than those requirements. *See also* Slip op. at 7.

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